

Refugee and migrant health: Global Competency Standards for health workers



WHO Health and Migration Programme

The WHO Health and Migration Programme brings together WHO's technical departments, regional and country offices, as well as partners, to secure the health rights of refugees and migrants and achieve universal health coverage. To this end, the Programme has five core functions: to provide global leadership, high-level advocacy, coordination and policy on health and migration; to set norms and standards to support decision-making; to monitor trends, strengthen health information systems and promote tools and strategies; to provide specialized technical assistance, response and capacity-building support to address public health challenges associated with human mobility; and to promote global multilateral action and collaboration.



Refugee and migrant health: Global Competency Standards for health workers

Refugee and migrant health: global competency standards for health workers

ISBN 978-92-4-003062-6 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-003063-3 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for noncommercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Refugee and migrant health: global competency standards for health workers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/ bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Foreword	. V
Preface	/ii
Acknowledgements	ix
Introduction	1
Aims of the Standards	1
Development of the Standards	3
How to use this Standards document	5
Refugee and migrant health: Global Competency Standards for health workers	.6
Domain 1: people-centredness	6
Domain 2: communication	8
Domain 3: collaboration	9
Domain 4: evidence-informed practice	10
Domain 5: personal conduct	10
Explanatory notes	12
Competency standard 1: provides people-centred health care to refugees and migrants	.12
Competency standard 2: promotes the agency of refugees and migrants at individual and community levels	16
Competency standard 3: engages safe and appropriate aids to meet language and communication needs of refugees and migrants	18
Competency standard 4: supports refugees and migrants to understand information about their health care	23
Competency standard 5: engages in collaborative practice to promote the health of refugees and migrants	23

Annex. Membership of the Strategic Working Group	33
References	28
Competency standard 9: contributes to a culture of self-care and mutual support when providing health care in the context of migration and displacement	26
Competency standard 8: engages in lifelong learning and reflective practice to promote the health of refugees and migrants	.25
Competency standard 7: promotes evidence-informed health care for refugees and migrants	.25
Competency standard 6: responds to migration- and displacement-related surges in demand for services	24

Foreword

Refugees and migrants are among the most vulnerable communities in many societies. All too often, they live insecurely on the fringes of society, in fear and without access to a reasonable level of essential services, including health services. They may face discrimination, social exclusion, negative attitudes, and stigmatizing stereotypes.

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted health services across the world, putting these already vulnerable and marginalized communities at heightened risk. The pandemic has compromised the ability of health systems to response to the whole spectrum of health needs, exacerbating existing inequities.

WHO believes that everyone should be able to enjoy the right to health and access to people-centred, high-quality health services without financial impediment, including refugees and migrants, as expressed by our commitment to universal health coverage.

All countries should aspire to build strong health systems, supported by a welltrained, culturally sensitive, and competent health workforce that can respond to the needs of all people. Such health systems must be sensitive to the needs of refugees and migrants, their languages and their unique health problems. This requires comprehensive national health policies underpinned by legislative and financial frameworks.

There is a clear need for consistent standards of practice for health workers providing services to refugees and migrants. These Global Competency Standards are the first of their kind, and are designed to achieve just that. They highlight a range of competencies that can be incorporated into education and practice to help health workers to provide culturally sensitive care to refugees and migrants.

2021 is the International Year of Health and Care Workers, which recognizes the dedication and sacrifice of millions of workers during the COVID-19 pandemic, and thanks them for their critical role in ensuring our health and prosperity. I hope that the Global Competency Standards provides a way of supporting and encouraging health workers to improve the provision of culturally health sensitive care to refugees and migrants, enabling them to live happier, healthier lives.

The Standards will play an important role in strengthening primary care and advancing progress towards universal health coverage for all, including refugees and migrants. Successful roll-out will require the commitment of all countries to support and invest in their health workforces.



Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus Director-General World Health Organization

Preface

Refugees and migrants have the fundamental right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health. They may have specific health needs and vulnerabilities that require culturally sensitive, effective and high-quality care that also recognizes the impact of migration on physical and mental health.

Refugees and migrants may face a number of challenges to accessing health care, including language and cultural differences, institutional discrimination and restricted use of health services, which shape their interactions with the host country's health system and health workforce. The health workforce has a vital role in providing people-centred health services and building the resilience of health systems to respond to the health needs of refugees and migrants. This requires health workers with specific competencies.

WHO is committed to promote the health needs of refugees and migrants including through the establishment of the global Health and Migration Programme. WHO's Thirteenth General Programme of Work concentrates on working towards universal health coverage and the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals, using inclusive health systems that put people at their centre. Ensuring the health and well-being of refugees and migrants is a key priority within this endeavour. The WHO Global Action Plan, Promoting the Health of Refugees and Migrants, aims to both promote refugee and migrant health and leave no one behind.

This Standards document has been developed by the Health and Migration Programme in close collaboration with the Health Workforce Department and is the first set to be developed for health workers who provide health services to refugees and migrants. The Standards highlights the competencies and behaviours needed to provide high-quality care to refugees and migrants. Achieving universal health coverage for these populations requires strong health systems with competent health workers who are trained, supported and empowered to provide the needed care.

The Standards aims to support a competency-based outcomes approach to education and training for health workers who provide services to refugees and migrants. The Standards focuses on behaviours that are specific and measurable, noting that behaviours are underpinned by knowledge, skills and attitudes that are developed interdependently. It is hoped that Standards described will provide a way forward for health workers to improve and consolidate practices in culturally sensitive care, leading to better outcomes for refugees and migrants. In addition, the Standards aims to guide the development of a curriculum for training health workers to meet the demands of current and future practice in relation to refugee and migrant health, which is being developed.

Meeting the health needs of refugees and migrants requires the commitment of all countries to support and invest in a health workforce that is competent to provide people-centred health services. What has been achieved so far in development of the Standards is impressive. However, the next stage of rolling this out will be vastly

more important. WHO will support the rollout of the Standards regionally and in Member States and will work with countries to build health system capacities and resilience, including a health workforce that provides people-centred quality health service. The development of the learning guide and curriculum and their adaptation to country contexts will help to promote access to high-quality primary care and progress towards universal health coverage for all the population including refugees and migrants. We must commit to achieving equitable access to essential health services for refugees and migrants and remove barriers to quality health services.



Dr Zsuzsanna Jakab Deputy Director-General World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

The Global Competency Standards was developed by the WHO Health and Migration Programme (PHM) under the strategic lead and supervision of Santino Severoni. It was produced in collaboration with the WHO Health Workforce Department directed by James Campbell and the Migrant and Refugee Health Partnership (Migration Council Australia), through Christine Phillips (Australian National University), Gulnara Abbasova and Amanda Lee.

Kanokporn Kaojaroen (PHM) was responsible for the coordination and execution of the review with the support of Ibadat Dhillon and Siobhan Fitzpatrick from the WHO Health Workforce Department.

Thanks are owed to Veronica Cornacchione, Mohammad Darwish, Cetin Dogan Dikmen, and Rifat Hossain from the PHM team for support in the production and dissemination of the review.

WHO would like to thank the members of the Strategic Working Group who provided technical input to the development of the Global Competency Standards: Aula Abbara (Imperial College London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Jill Benson (University of Adelaide, Australia), Fouad M. Fouad (American University of Beirut, Lebanon), Indika Karunathilake (University of Colombo, Sri Lanka), Elsie Kiguli-Malwadde (African Centre for Global Health and Social Transformation, Uganda), Allan Krasnik (University of Copenhagen, Denmark), Paul Spiegel (Johns Hopkins University, United States of America), István Szilárd (University of Pécs, Hungary), Jo Vearey (University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa) and Cynthia Whitehead (University of Toronto, Canada). Many thanks also to Allan Krasnik, who co-chaired the Expert Consultation.

WHO would also like to acknowledge the insightful feedback and advice provided by the participants in the Expert Consultation Group: Nyoman Sutarsa (Australian National University, Australia), Lasha Goguadze and Ezekiel Simperingham (International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies), Ade Prastyani (Gadjah Mada University, Indonesia), Bernadette Nirmal Kumar (Global Society on Migration, Ethnicity, Race and Health), Maren Hopfe, Natalia Popova and Christiane Wiskow (International Labour Organization), Poonam Dhavan, Chiaki Ito, Michela Martini and Jacqueline Weekers (International Organization for Migration), Marwan Akel (International Pharmaceutical Federation), Virginia Wangare Greiner (Maisha – African Women in Germany), Veronique Guillemot (Médecins Sans Frontières), Maria van den Muijsenbergh (Radboud University, the Netherlands), Akiko Maeda and Nick Torres (The Network: Towards Unity for Health), Fouzia Shafique and Claudia Vivas (United Nations Children's Fund), Ann Burton and Nasur Muwonge (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees), Jeanine Suurmond (University of Amsterdam, the Netherlands), Judy Khanyola (University of Global Health Equity, Rwanda), Jonathan Kennedy (University of Otago, New Zealand) and Djenana Jalovcic (World Confederation for Physiotherapy).

In addition, many WHO staff provided invaluable support: Devora Kestel, Inka Weissbecker, (WHO headquarters), Ernest Dabire and Lokombe Elongo (WHO Regional Office for Africa), Candelaria Arozo, James Fitzgerald, José Francisco García Gutiérrez, Camila Polinori and Ciro Ugarte (WHO Regional Office for the Americas/Pan American Health Organization), Ali Ardalan, Gulin Gedik, Awad Mataria and Tonia Rifaey (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean), Josef Bartovic and Gundo Weiler (WHO Regional Office for Europe), Lin Aung (WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia) and Kira Fortune (WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific Region).

PHM also greatly appreciates and values the in-kind contribution by the Migration Council Australia as well as the financial support by the German Federal Ministry of Health and the Universal Health Coverage Partnership, which made the production of this report possible.

Introduction

The Refugee and Migrant Health: Global Competency Standards for Health Workers (the Standards) highlights the competencies and behaviours of the health workforce in providing quality care to refugee and migrant populations. Achieving universal health coverage for refugee and migrant populations requires strong health systems with competent health workers who are trained, supported and empowered to provide the care needed.

Competence is the state of proficiency to perform work activities to a defined standard. It is multidimensional and dynamic, changing with time, experience and setting, and equates to having the requisite competencies to do this in a given context (1). Competence in an area is durable, trainable and, through the expression of behaviours, measurable. Health workers providing care to refugee and migrant populations are expected to achieve a minimum level of competence and, therefore, to integrate the Standards into their performance of work activities.

The WHO Health and Migration Programme, in collaboration with the Health Workforce Department, identified the need to specifically tailor competencies to address the various differing health needs of refugee and migrant populations. This has led to the development of the Standards. This is strongly aligned with the Global competency framework for universal health coverage being developed by the WHO Health Workforce Department to identify the competencies and areas of practice for health workers through the lens of primary health care but it contains additional specifications for minimum behavioural standards and evidenceinformed clinical standards in the context of migration and displacement.

The Standards focuses on the behaviours of health workers while recognizing that health systems also need to be responsive to the needs of refugees and migrants. The health workforce is positioned within a broader landscape, where policy and legal considerations govern access to health services for refugee and migrant populations. Quality health care for all requires structures that are inclusive of refugee and migrant populations as well as an educated health workforce capable of providing culturally sensitive services.

Aims of the Standards

The Standards aims to support a competency-based outcomes approach to education and training for health workers who provide services to refugees and migrants. Competency-based education situates knowledge and skills in the specific context of practice, in this case refugee and migrant health, while recognizing that the composition and responsibilities of the health workforce are also shaped by the specific health systems and health practices of regions and countries.

The competencies and behaviours in the Standards are organized under five key domains, in line with the competencies within the WHO Global competency framework for universal health coverage but tailored to the specific context of refugee and migrant health. The Standards focuses on behaviours which are specific and measurable, noting that behaviours are underpinned by knowledge, skills and attitudes that are developed interdependently. Together, the Standards represents best practice and builds upon existing efforts of health workers to provide the same high quality of care for refugee and migrant populations as for host populations.

The competencies described here are designed so that they can be tailored to the environments that health workers operate in, taking into consideration the requirements and constraints of local health systems as well as the characteristics of the refugee and migrant populations. Countries with large refugee and migrant populations have adapted their health systems in different ways to accommodate the needs of these populations. Service models for refugees and migrants reflect in part the size of the population, the dynamics and volume of people crossing borders, and the capacity and commitment of the host country to provide for the health needs of its refugee and migrant populations.

Refugees and migrants often have health needs that differ from those of host populations, requiring culturally sensitive and effective care that recognizes the impact of migration on physical and mental health. Refugees and migrants may face a number of challenges to accessing health care, including language and cultural differences, institutional discrimination and restricted use of mainstream health services; these will shape their interactions with the host country's health system and health workforce. Socioeconomic inequities experienced by refugees and migrants are further exacerbated by exclusionary policies and inequitable access to employment and education opportunities, and have a significant influence on health. Particularly vulnerable are migrants who are in situations such as being trafficked for forced work, as unaccompanied children or as irregular migrants.

While the Standards and accompanying Explanatory notes highlight specific areas where refugees and migrants may require additional support, their strengths should also be recognized in the delivery of health services. The Standards prompts health workers to identify vulnerabilities experienced by refugees and migrants when accessing health services, but also to recognize that the empowerment and agency of refugee and migrant populations in health care remain critical. While refugees and migrants may face additional challenges compared with host populations in their access to, and experience of, health care, it should be recognized that all people have a fundamental right to health regardless of legal status.

Finally, the Standards aims to guide the development of a curriculum to train health professionals to meet the demands of current and future practice in relation to refugee and migrant health. While the behaviours contained within the Standards are designed to be broadly applicable to health workers operating in various environments, there is significant scope for behaviours to be tailored to specific settings. In particular for health workers operating in fragile and conflict settings, it is recognized that competencies and behaviours may need to be further adapted in light of various challenges at operational and systemic levels. These may include severely weakened health systems, limited resources and severe mental health and well-being impacts on health workers themselves.

Development of the Standards

The process of developing the Standards was informed by a multicountry review and an extensive literature review. It was further informed and guided by the technical advice provided by the Strategic Working Group, which was made up of experts in refugee and migrant health (Annex 1). The Strategic Working Group reviewed the draft Standards to ensure its relevance and applicability for health workers in different settings and countries. Additional consultations were also conducted with an expert group drawing from universities, international organizations and nongovernmental organizations.

The multicountry review, Mapping health systems' responsiveness to refugee and migrant health needs, has provided an overview of the levels of health care accessed by refugees and migrants in 18 countries with a significant refugee and migrant population. The review identified four broad models of care adopted by countries to deliver health services to refugees and migrants: (i) mainstream, where the health system accessed by the general population is used; (ii) specialized-focus, where a separate stream of services designed to meet the specific health needs of refugee and migrant populations is the first point of contact; (iii) gateway, where only basic checks may be available but entry to the main health services is provided; and (iv) limited, where basic health services are provided by external actors such as charities and nongovernmental organizations. The accompanying review, Health needs of refugees and migrants: a literature review, explores how the health needs of refugees and migrants may differ from those of the host population over their life course. It covers child health, sexual health, reproductive health, mental health, preventive health, chronic diseases, communicable diseases, oral health, care for elderly people and care for those with disabilities.

These two reviews helped to establish the context for the Standards, which also has drawn from the Competency Standards Framework for Clinicians: Culturally Responsive Clinical Practice – Working with People from Migrant and Refugee Backgrounds (2). This was developed in Australia in 2019 by the Migrant and Refugee Health Partnership. This 2019 Competency Standards Framework established recommended and optimal cultural responsiveness competency standards for clinicians working with people from refugee and migrant backgrounds in all health-care settings.

In developing the Standards, care was taken to ensure that the language was reflective of the significant diversity within refugee and migrant populations,¹ as well as the different conditions under which they migrated were displaced or trafficked.

While the Standards provides a high-level overview of the expected behaviours of health workers providing services to refugees and migrants, further work is needed to translate the competencies into work activities. A knowledge guide and curricula guidance will be developed in line with the Standards, focusing on practice activities relating to the provision of health services at an individual level and drawing from the knowledge guides developed as part of the Global competency framework for universal health coverage, but contextualizing for refugee and migrant health in accordance with WHO's Global Action Plan, Promoting the Health of Refugees and Migrants (2019–2023) *(4)*.

¹ The term refugee is defined in Article 1 of the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, which states that "For the purposes of present Convention, the term 'refugee' shall apply to any person who ... owing to well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, is outside the country of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country; or who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence as a result of such events, is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it (*3*). By comparison, there is no universally accepted definition of the term migrant (*4*). Migrants may be granted a different legal status in the country of their stay, which may have different interpretations regarding entitlement and access to essential health-care services within a given national legislation. However, under international law such access remains universal for all in line with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, in particular with Sustainable Development Goal 3 (ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages) (*5*).

How to use this Standards document

The Standards are organized into five domains with a series of competencies and behaviours within each domain:

domain 1, person-centredness

domain 2, communication

domain 3, collaboration

domain 4, evidence-informed practice

domain 5, personal conduct.

The competencies and behaviours should be read in conjunction with the accompanying explanatory notes, which provide further insight into terms and concepts raised, and draw on peer-reviewed research, grey literature and current guidelines produced by WHO and international organizations.

This document is designed to highlight specific competencies for health workers in relation to refugee and migrant health. For competencies applying to all health workers, please refer to the Global competency framework for universal health coverage.

Refugee and migrant health: Global Competency Standards for health workers

Domain 1: people-centredness

Competency standards under this domain relate to the provision of quality health services to the beneficiaries of health systems.

Competency standard 1: provides people-centred health care to refugees and migrants

- 1.1. Adapts practice to the needs of the person in view of their migration and displacement experiences, taking into consideration the impact of these experiences on access to health care, including barriers to access.
- 1.2. Adapts practice to the needs of refugees and migrants in view of their individual characteristics, including the intersection of sex, gender identity, age, disability, sexual orientation and legal status, taking into account social determinants of health throughout migration and displacement transitions including transit, arrival and possible return and their impact on individual health needs across the life course.
- **1.3.** Addresses mental health and the psychosocial support needs of refugees and migrants by providing trauma-informed care and interventions sensitive to experiences of chronic hardship, traumatic events, grief and loss, facilitating referrals.
- 1.4. Supports universal access to quality health care, irrespective of the person's legal status and related legal, administrative and financial barriers to access, recognizing the particular vulnerabilities of children on the move.
- **1.5.** Facilitates continuity of care by supporting the person to hold their own health information and documentation and to understand how to seek further care, recognizing the mobility of refugee and migrant populations.

Competency standard 2: promotes the agency of refugees and migrants at individual and community levels

- **2.1.** Assesses the person's health literacy and health system literacy, including identifying areas of strength and specific areas of risk.
- **2.2.** Supports refugees and migrants to develop their health literacy and their awareness of the right to health.
- **2.3.** Supports refugees and migrants to improve their knowledge of, and ability to navigate, the host country's health system.
- **2.4.** Addresses language and cultural considerations when supporting people to be informed of their options for health care, make decisions about and manage their own health.
- **2.5.** Engages with diaspora communities to promote the agency of refugees and migrants at a community level.
- **2.6.** Identifies processes for safe and appropriate engagement with the person's family or community to facilitate the provision of health care, including when addressing barriers to access.
- 2.7. Recognizes the impacts of family separation on the health of refugees and migrants, including mental health impacts.

Domain 2: communication

Competency standards under this domain relate to effective communication between health workers and people accessing health services.

Competency standard 3: engages safe and appropriate aids to meet language and communication needs of refugees and migrants

Behaviours

- **3.1.** Recognizes the person's right to timely, gender- and age-appropriate information, including assistance with communication.
- **3.2.** Mitigates language and communication barriers by engaging trained individuals including interpreters and cultural mediators, as appropriate, to facilitate communication between the person and health workers, wherever necessary.
- **3.3.** Uses language and communication aids that are language and culturally appropriate, sensitive and age- and gender-responsive.
- **3.4.** Adapts practice to work effectively with interpreters and cultural mediators, as appropriate, in person or remotely, including by telephone or video link.

Competency standard 4: supports refugees and migrants to understand information about their health care

- **4.1.** Ensures that the person understands information about their health care in view of the language, communication and health literacy barriers to understanding.
- **4.2.** Communicates in plain language, avoiding the use of medical jargon.

Domain 3: collaboration

Competency standards under this domain relate to the practice of teamwork, which underpins culturally sensitive care. Effective communication, collaboration and conflict resolution between health workers and professionals across different sectors is needed to address the impact of non-health-related factors on the person's health.

Competency standard 5: engages in collaborative practice to promote the health of refugees and migrants

Behaviours

- **5.1.** Engages with broader social and community support, including legal, education, employment, housing and other social support services as appropriate, to address the impacts of non-health-related factors on the person's health in the context of migration and displacement and to facilitate specialized care.
- 5.2. Undertakes effective handover of care to other health workers through verbal and/or written communication, including information about relevant individual, cultural and language considerations and needs as well as migration- and displacement-related factors.
- **5.3.** Utilizes the skills, including language and communication capabilities, of health workers from refugee and migrant backgrounds in supporting people with experiences of migration and displacement.
- **5.4.** Engages effectively with government departments, nongovernmental and civil society organizations, communities and other health workers to provide integrated and coordinated health, mental health and psychosocial support services to refugees and migrants.

Competency standard 6: responds to migration- and displacement-related surges in demand for services

Behaviours

6.1. Responds flexibly and collaboratively to surges in demand for the provision of health-care services in view of increased levels of migration and displacement.

Domain 4: evidence-informed practice

Competency standards under this domain relate to the generation and integration of evidence and information to practice.

Competency standard 7: promotes evidence-informed health care for refugees and migrants

Behaviours

- 7.1. Uses evidence-informed guidelines and standards, where they exist, to respond to specific health needs of refugees and migrants in care planning and delivery, including mental health and psychosocial support, psychological first aid, pain management and medication management.
- **7.2.** Recognizes how the health needs of refugees and migrants may differ from those of the general population.
- **7.3.** Identifies where additional evidence is needed to promote the health of refugees and migrants.
- **7.4.** Participates in the generation of evidence, where possible, to inform the development of guidelines and standards to respond to health needs of refugees and migrants.
- **7.5.** Supports the translation of evidence into practice when providing care to refugees and migrants.

Domain 5: personal conduct

Competency standards under this domain relate to the ethical behaviour of health workers, specifically in relation to interactions with refugees and migrants in health-care settings. Competence within ethical conduct of health workers in all settings, including acting with integrity and maintaining ethical boundaries, is extensively addressed in the WHO Global competency framework for universal health coverage.

Competency standard 8: engages in lifelong learning and reflective practice to promote the health of refugees and migrants

Behaviours

- 8.1. Maintains awareness of own culture, beliefs, values and biases.
- **8.2.** Demonstrates awareness of institutional discrimination experienced by refugees and migrants, in particular its impacts on health status.
- **8.3.** Demonstrates awareness of intersections of systems, structures and patterns of power that determine a person's position of disadvantage and impact their access to, and experience of, health care.
- 8.4. Addresses the impact of own culture, beliefs, values and biases as well as institutional discrimination on interactions in health-care settings, including by continually adapting practice to respond to the needs of relevant communities.
- **8.5.** Contributes to introducing or improving cultural sensitivity in existing practices by modelling appropriate behaviour and avoiding culturally insensitive practices.

Competency standard 9: contributes to a culture of self-care and mutual support when providing health care in the context of migration and displacement

- **9.1.** Engages in self-care practices to manage own mental health and well-being when working in the context of migration and displacement.
- **9.2.** Contributes to a supportive team environment to manage the mental health and well-being impacts of providing care to refugees and migrants.

Explanatory notes

Competency standard 1: provides people-centred health care to refugees and migrants

Migration and displacement experiences

Experiences of refugees and migrants can be broadly considered in three stages: those taking place in the country of origin, those occurring in transit through one or more countries and those in the country (or place) of destination *(6)*. However, it should be noted that migration and displacement is not always a linear process with consecutive stages; in reality, the trajectory is often more complex. Interception may also form part of the migration and displacement experience.

Country of origin. Pre-migration experiences occur in the country of origin, where the health of refugees and migrants may be shaped by various political, social and environmental factors. These may include climate change, disaster, war, conflict and persecution, poverty and lack of economic opportunity, and existing health-care practices. Lived experiences will also shape experiences, including chronic hardship, daily stressors, potentially traumatic events and the distribution of illnesses that may be commonly found in that country.

Countries of transit. Experiences in transit between countries of origin and destination will depend on the type of journey, the prevalence of illnesses in those countries and the potential limitation in access to health care. Refugees and migrants may be exposed to unhealthy living conditions and may experience disrupted provision of medications, both for existing and for new illnesses. Further, some refugees and migrants may have physical injuries and may experience being trafficked or traumatic/stressful events during transit.

Country (or place) of destination. Experiences in the country of destination – or place of destination for internal migrants – may shape the health of refugees and migrants in various ways. Factors include socioeconomic challenges arising from settlement, integration and, sometimes, a precarious legal status; the ability to access health-care services for ongoing care or new conditions; and the impacts of other experiences, including physical injuries, traumatic or stressful events, chronic hardship and discrimination in the post-migration phase.

Return is generally considered a further stage of the migration cycle, in addition to those outlined above. However, many refugees and migrants may not return to their country of origin or return may not be possible. In the context of health service

delivery, health workers should be aware that refugees and migrants returning to their country of origin may have experienced some of the factors described in this section, which can impact their health.

Social determinants of health

Migration is a fundamental social determinant of health for refugees and migrants. According to the International Organization for Migration, migration cuts across other social determinants of health at individual, community and societal levels (7). While the significant diversity across refugee and migrant populations must be acknowledged, it is recognized that access to health care and the health status of most refugees and migrants are affected by a combination of social, cultural, legal and economic factors. For example, at the individual level, refugees and migrants may experience cultural and linguistic barriers to communication, which limit their access to health information and care (7). At the community level, refugees and migrants may experience discrimination and stigma in the host community, including by the local health workforce. Other cross-cutting influences, such as policy and legislation governing access to health care for refugees and migrants, poor working conditions, insecure housing and limited or lack of access to clean water and sanitation, all have a cumulative impact on the health of refugees and migrants.

Victims of trafficking, migrant smuggling and children on the move

Migrants, in particular irregular migrants, are often the victims of human trafficking and migrant smuggling and enter or stay in a country illegally (8). Many are subjected to sexual exploitation and forced labour. Victims can be children or adults, boys or girls, men or women; they can be trafficked by improper means such as the threat or use of force. Smuggled migrants are often put in dangerous situations (such as being confined for a long period of time or a hazardous sea crossing), which, in addition to being severe human rights violations, are by definition poor health conditions. This is exacerbated by lack of access to quality health services.

Refugee and migrant children (children on the move, often unaccompanied minors) face heightened risks to their physical and mental health. This is particularly critical if they are unaccompanied and separated, have a disability or identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender or queer. Health workers need to be aware of the special procedures and protection needs that are necessary for these children (9,10).

Culturally sensitive care

Culturally sensitive care is respectful of a person's cultural, religious and linguistic needs, which pays attention to the immense diversity within refugee and migrant populations. Health workers should maintain awareness of the roles that culture and religion play in the person's health beliefs and practices. Religious and cultural considerations may inform the person's preference for gender concordance with their health worker and other professionals involved in their care, such as interpreters and cultural mediators. Health workers should have a basic understanding of the person's culture and the demographics of common countries of origin for refugees and migrants, as this knowledge can help to build trust between the provider and the person and contribute to culturally informed care.

Initiatives that can further support culturally sensitive care include (11):

- engaging a bicultural or bilingual health workforce;
- using universally agreed signage whenever possible, as well as visuals and other displays that are culturally appropriate;
- factoring in cultural and religious considerations when addressing people's accommodation and nutritional and spiritual needs;
- using people's personal models of understanding psychological distress and their preferences for health seeking as a foundation for developing care;
- considering people's preference for gender concordance with clinicians or with language and communication aids where possible;
- developing cultural protocols and display in waiting areas, consulting rooms and pre-admission documentation; and
- using translated resources that are appropriate to people's health literacy and cultural needs.

Trauma- and grief-informed care

Refugees and migrants often experience an accumulation of chronic hardship, daily stressors, significant losses and potentially traumatic events in their countries of origin or destination as well as during transit. These experiences may include gender-based violence, assault, trafficking and other highly distressing events, which may result in stress-related symptoms, including feelings of sadness, helplessness, fear or horror; all of these can impact upon a person's ability to cope *(12)*.

It is important that health workers are sensitive to the impacts of the difficult experiences faced by some refugees and migrants and are trained in providing quality, evidence-informed psychological interventions where appropriate (13). Trauma-informed care is a strengths-based framework that focuses on identifying the person's strengths, positive coping strategies and resources for support (12).

Key aspects of trauma-informed care include:

- understanding how different symptoms and behaviours represent responses and adaptations to traumatic experiences;
- emphasizing safety by maintaining awareness of potential triggers and establishing clear roles and boundaries;
- providing opportunities to rebuild control and give the person choice; and
- adopting a strengths-based approach that is focused on the future and building resilience.

Trauma-informed care is based on the knowledge and understanding of how trauma affects people's lives, including their interactions with health services. For example, some people may fear or mistrust authority figures, including health workers (14). It is generally not advised for health workers to ask the person for a detailed trauma and torture history, particularly during their initial health-care visits (14). However, if such incidents are disclosed, health workers should listen supportively and without judgement using basic psychosocial support skills.

Adopting a universal precautions approach to pre-migration traumatizing events, including human rights violations, while providing care to refugee and migrant populations helps to create a safe space for service delivery (15). The failure of health workers to adopt such a trauma-informed approach has been found to impede the delivery of effective care to refugees (16).

Grief in relation to the loss of a family member or loved one is a natural reaction. However, the violent death of a loved one may increase the risk of post-traumatic stress disorder, depression or intense or prolonged grief for survivors, including for refugees and migrants (17). Health workers should respond sensitively to experiences of loss and trauma shared by the person while also being aware of the importance of managing the impacts of disclosures on their own mental health and well-being.

Impact of legal status on health-care access

Access to health care in countries of transit and destination may be limited for people with precarious legal status. Many countries have policies in place that guarantee access to health care for refugees and migrants regardless of legal status; however, in practice, people with tenuous legal status may face numerous challenges in accessing health services. For irregular migrants in particular, access to health care may be patchy or non-existent. For migrant workers, health-care access may depend on their employer arrangements.

The impact of precarious legal status on access to health care may affect a person's ability to follow the advice of health workers, as some individuals may not be in a position to afford the proposed treatments or courses of action.

Continuity of care

The mobility of some refugee and migrant populations can mean that health workers often do not have a full picture of their patient's health or records of their health history. Strategies to improve continuity of care include patient-held records (paper or personal electronic record systems) and effective electronic medical record systems (*18*). By providing refugees and migrants with patient-held records, which should be updated regularly, health workers can help to ensure that people on the move have continued access to their health information and documentation, including medication and vaccination history.

Competency standard 2: promotes the agency of refugees and migrants at individual and community levels

Health literacy and health system literacy

Health literacy refers to a person's knowledge, skills and confidence in using information to achieve and maintain good health through changes in lifestyle and living conditions *(19)*. Health literacy is relevant for health workers working with refugees and migrants as specific communication skills may be needed to provide the person with information to promote and maintain good health.

Health system literacy refers to the ability to understand how a health system works. This may be even more critical for health outcomes for refugees and migrants than health literacy about their own individual health. In addition to supporting general health literacy, providing education and training regarding the host country's health system is crucial *(20)*. Refugees and migrants may not understand how to navigate health systems that operate differently from those of their home countries, with studies indicating that those who are unfamiliar with the health system of the host country may underuse primary care services and have increased presentations to emergency care (20).

Poorer health outcomes among some populations, including refugees and migrants, have been partly attributed to lower levels of health literacy in the host environment (21–23). It is important to note, however, that other factors such as different cultural beliefs, attitudes and behaviours also have a significant influence on health. Refugees and migrants may have different health-related attitudes and behaviours, which may diverge from the views of health workers in host countries but nevertheless be effective.

Specific areas of risk

In assessing a person's health literacy and health systems literacy, health workers should also take into consideration specific areas of risk, such as the use of medicines. Provision of medicine is the outcome of many medical encounters. It is a key area of risk for health care, and quality use of medications includes prescribing the right medicine in the right dosage regimen, and the individual, in turn, taking the medicine in the prescribed doses for the prescribed time. For many refugees and migrants, safe use of medicines can be impeded by language and communication barriers, cultural factors and financial barriers, in addition to limited health literacy and health system literacy (24). Particular times of risk include transitions in care (e.g. moving from hospitals to primary care settings (25)) and crossing of state borders. Continuity of medication for migrants at borders, or the prescription of medications that are readily accessible in a range of countries (26).

Quality use of medicines for people from refugee and migrant backgrounds may require health workers to:

- ensure effective communication regarding diagnostics, medicines and therapeutic devices, including explanations and demonstrations;
- consider the use of traditional medicines and other medicines that are being taken and potential side-effects (27), noting that health workers' understanding of the use of traditional medicines and healing methods may facilitate mutual respect between the health worker and the individual;
- explain possible adverse effects, risks and benefits of each medicine, and provide clear instructions about dosage and delivery route for the medicines;

17

- consider the cost implications for individuals and financial assistance options; and
- inform the patient about the safe storage and disposal of medicines, and the importance of not sharing medicines with other family members and friends.

Teach-back strategies, where the health worker specifically asks the person to explain back in their own words the course of action, including the medications prescribed, are useful in clarifying how clearly the plan has been communicated by the health worker *(28)*.

Role of family and community

Many refugees and migrants come from cultures that are collectivist in nature, rather than individualistic. The role of family and community in influencing the person's approach to health and health-related behaviours should be taken into consideration by health workers where appropriate. In particular, community-level discussions on health topics such as safe birthing, nutrition and alcohol use, among others, may help to support individual development of health literacy.

It is also important for health workers to be aware that many refugees and migrants may be separated from their family members. Family separation is a major source of distress for newly arrived refugees and migrants, who fear for the physical safety of family members still living in conflict zones, feel powerless to help distant family members and feel a loss of connection to their culture without the presence of extended family in their host country (29). Family separation is also linked to negative mental health impacts for refugees, including depression and anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder and lower levels of psychological quality of life (29).

Competency standard 3: engages safe and appropriate aids to meet language and communication needs of refugees and migrants

Communication assistance

Communication assistance, which is provided by interpreters and cultural mediators, helps in overcoming any language and communication barriers that may exist between health workers and refugees and migrants. Interpreters and cultural mediators can play a critical role in language-discordant interactions, where the health worker and the individual do not speak the same language. Communication barriers between health workers and people from refugee and migrant backgrounds may impact on the person's full understanding of healthcare interactions, including the nature and effects of proposed treatments, as well as their ability to access sufficient information and discuss alternatives.

Engaging language and communication aids for refugees and migrants accessing health care can:

- decrease communication errors (30);
- increase patient comprehension (30);
- improve the delivery of person-centred care in health-care settings (31);
- reduce unnecessary tests and treatments;
- increase rates of appropriate informed consent;
- improve clinical outcomes (31);
- raise the quality of care to the same level as that for people without language barriers;
- improve patient satisfaction and understanding of self-care and follow-up plans, leading to reduced errors and better treatment adherence (31); and
- increase the quality of health care and reduce safety risks (32).

Because of the elevated level of risk involved, providing access to language and communication aids for refugees and migrants is particularly necessary when:

- obtaining informed consent;
- undertaking complex care, for example starting or adjusting the dose of high-risk medications or multiple medications;
- assessing the person's competency; or
- informing the person of bad news.

If the health worker is uncertain as to whether the person is competent to make decisions related to their care at the time, language and communication aids should generally be provided even if they are not requested.

High-quality systems to support communication will include ways of identifying those who are in need of interpreters, the high-risk situations where quality language and communication support will be needed and the appropriate level of communication support for the person and context *(33)*.

Role of interpreters

Interpreters are professionals who are competent in conveying spoken or signed language into another language. The provision, availability and cost of interpreting services differ between countries and may be very limited in some cases. In some countries, interpreters must be registered with a recognized authority. Interpreting services can be provided over the telephone, through video link or face to face. Once the need for an interpreter has been established, it is the health worker's responsibility to ensure that steps are taken to engage an interpreter through established arrangements.

When engaging an interpreter, health workers should be mindful of the person's potential preferences for interpreters, including regarding ethnicity, religion, language or dialect, and gender considerations. The interpreter's ethnicity and religion may be important to some people, for example a worry about bias if the interpreter is from an ethnic group which is or has been in conflict with the person's ethnic group (34).

Some people may request the same interpreter throughout their care or have preference for an interpreter of the same gender. This is particularly likely to occur in consultations related to sexual and reproductive health or, in some cases, mental health, and it may be a high priority for people from some cultural backgrounds. In gender-discordant consultations, where the health worker and the individual are not of the same gender, engaging a gender-concordant interpreter can improve the person's satisfaction with the consultation *(35)*.

People from refugee and migrant backgrounds may prefer interpreting services over the telephone even when an interpreter is available in person, because of concerns about confidentiality if it is likely that the interpreter is from the same small and tight-knit community (*36*). Telephone interpreting may also be preferred if the consultation involves a sensitive topic, such as mental or sexual health, and particularly if the available interpreter is of the opposite gender. Engaging a telephone interpreter can reduce confidentiality concerns for people with particularly sensitive issues (*37*).

It may not be possible to accommodate all individual preferences with regard to interpreter requirements (such as ethnicity or religion) in view of the specific service provision policies. Further, in some environments, the availability of interpreters may be limited, with little or no choice regarding their personal characteristics. However, understanding people's concerns and informing them of available options, while clarifying the role of interpreters as facilitators of communication who are bound by confidentiality and impartiality, helps to build trust and effective partnerships. Health workers may experience communication difficulties while working with interpreters because of a lack of training on how to use interpreting services effectively (38). In the absence of accessible interpreting services, health-care providers often rely on family members, which can create challenges in communication and quality of care. Patients may feel more comfortable in some situations with family members and intimate partners facilitating communication, but this poses the risk of miscommunication, depending on the person's language skills, and may lead to patient frustration in cases of misdiagnosis, error and poor care (38). In particular, health workers have a responsibility not to engage minors to facilitate interpretation, as this is associated with significant risk.

Other risks generally associated with engaging family members and intimate partners to facilitate interpretation include:

- inaccurate and inadequate interpretation because of a lack of interpreting skills, subject matter knowledge and specialized medical terminology;
- possibility of information being withheld or distorted due to the nature of family relationships, including family, domestic or intimate partner violence situations;
- complicating family dynamics, especially parent-child relationships;
- compromised confidentiality; and
- potential trauma caused to family members.

The engagement of language-competent health workers is a possible alternative to using interpreters. However, this option is not risk free, as bilingualism does not necessarily equate to effective interpreting skill and may not be sufficient for providing safe and quality care. If an interpreter or language-competent health worker is not available, health workers are responsible for assessing the risks of proceeding with the consultation without an interpreter compared with that for rescheduling the appointment to allow time to engage an interpreter. In an emergency and when an interpreter is not available, this should be noted in the person's records and an interpreter should be engaged as soon as possible to ensure accurate information is communicated.

The engagement of interpreting services is especially important in situations involving deaf refugees and migrants. There are more than 200 different sign languages used by deaf people around the world *(39)*. Common sign languages include British Sign Language, French Sign Language, American Sign Language and Brazilian Sign Language *(40)*. In situations where the person's sign language may differ from the host country's commonly used sign language, deaf interpreters should be engaged. Deaf interpreters are generally familiar with a national sign language and International Sign, which is a pidgin sign language that combines

the users' national sign languages with internationally recognized signs in situations where a common sign language is not shared (41). Deaf interpreters can use culturally shared ways of communicating with deaf people, including constructing shared gestural meaning; they usually work with an interpreter communicating in a formal sign language.

Role of cultural mediators

While cultural mediators and interpreters share some similarities, cultural mediators generally play a more active, autonomous role in interactions between health workers and a refugee or migrant. Cultural mediators facilitate mutual understanding between people and health workers, not only by interpreting but also by providing cultural context and advice where necessary (42). While interpreters are required to communicate all the information being exchanged between the health worker and the person, cultural mediators will generally convey the main message and provide additional cultural advice and context if needed. This involves clarification on culturally specific concepts, beliefs, values and assumptions in order to avoid misunderstanding (43). Some cultural mediators will go further by providing extra support for the person, for example by filling out forms (42). Additionally, other responsibilities of cultural mediators include preventing conflict in interactions between health workers and people accessing health services, and empowering the person receiving health care to express their own views (44).

Cultural mediators can be engaged in a range of contexts, including humanitarian settings. It should be noted that intercultural mediation is not a registered profession and does not require standardized qualifications *(43)*.

Language and communication aids

Language and communication aids encompass both the engagement of interpreters and cultural mediators, as described above, and the use of other tools to facilitate communication, such as flashcards and translation apps. Machineautomated translation is likely to be increasingly utilized in the future. Google Translate and other automated speech-to-speech translation apps may be of some help in situations where interpreters and cultural mediators are unavailable, but these should not become the default for communication support, especially in interactions that are more complex and pose greater risk to the person. In its current state, artificial intelligence is generally ineffective when translating nuanced and complex information, which is often the case in health and legal settings (45).

Competency standard 4: supports refugees and migrants to understand information about their health care

Ensuring information is genuinely understood

Health workers should seek to ensure that the individual has a genuine understanding of the information conveyed through an interpreter. This can be achieved through the teach-back method, where the health worker asks the person to explain in their own words the health management plan that has been discussed in the consultation (46).

Psychological first aid

Psychological first aid provides rapid practical support for people experiencing acute psychological distress related to a disaster or traumatic event (47). It uses basic principles of support to help people to feel safe, connected to others, calm and hopeful, and to feel able to help themselves. Psychological first aid aims to reduce initial distress and promote flexible coping and natural recovery.

Using plain language

To support the person's understanding of information related to their health care, health workers should avoid using technical clinical terms or colloquialisms. Complex concepts should be explained in simple language, particularly if interpreters or cultural mediators are involved, as their understanding of medical terminology may be limited. Where appropriate, visual aids or culturally sensitive non-verbal cues and gestures may be used to help in communicating with the person.

Competency standard 5: engages in collaborative practice to promote the health of refugees and migrants

Impacts of other determinants on health

While migration and displacement are key determinants of health, it is important for health workers to maintain awareness of other interacting factors that may impact on health, including housing, education, employment and legal status. Housing, in particular, is of importance to refugees and migrants as it influences physical and mental health, perceptions of safety and belonging, and the security

23

of their stay in the host country (48). Education and employment also shape health outcomes for refugees and migrants, while legal status generally remains a critical factor in determining health-care access for refugees and migrants. Health workers should be aware of the interactions between these areas and their impact on health.

Handover of care

For refugees and migrants, effective handover of care is important, particularly at the interface of primary and tertiary services, as the person may be less likely to correct errors or misunderstandings in relation to their health, or even ask about them. Failure to communicate new treatment plans can result in medication errors or gaps in follow-up. Failure to communicate the full history to specialist service providers can result in repetition of treatment or investigations, representing a waste of resources. Further, missing key elements of patient history exposes the person to danger and may result in key areas of risk being underappreciated.

Competency standard 6: responds to migration- and displacement-related surges in demand for services

Surges in demand for services

Periodic surge in demand is a feature of refugee and migrant health services for a range of reasons. People move across borders or within countries for work on seasonal or temporary contracts, when returning home for key periods such as holidays or if they are being forcibly returned. Surges in planned permanent intake or influxes of refugees and migrants can also occur as a result of government policies, for example humanitarian programmes in response to conflicts, wars or environmental disasters. Surges in temporary intake or influxes also occur at border crossings initiated when routes for people flows open up.

Health workers need to be familiar with systems that enable rapid expansion of health care to meet a temporary or permanent increase in need, including:

- expansion of health-care assessment points;
- expansion of treatment distribution; and
- focus of health-care delivery on critical needs.

While organizations are responsible for anticipating, planning, operationalizing and monitoring a surge response, health workers must be able to demonstrate flexibility
and the ability to collaborate with fellow health workers, nongovernmental and civil society organizations and local communities. Surge responses often require that the clinicians function in accordance with an organizational plan, including being deployed to areas where needs are greatest. Surge response is often stressful because of the rapid increase in workload and the sometimes distressing circumstances or experiences that may surround the surge. Strategies to help in avoiding a negative spiral of burnout and disengagement include providing mutual support, conscious respect for the surge population, attention to professional roles and boundaries and mindful reflection on one's own adaptive responses (49,50).

Competency standard 7: promotes evidence-informed health care for refugees and migrants

Evidence-informed guidelines and standards

All health-care workers should follow evidence-informed guidelines where they exist and are applicable to the circumstances of the refugees and migrants to whom they provide care. However, there are often gaps in knowledge regarding refugee and migrant health care, for example in relation to the prevalence of illnesses from particular regions or the availability and effectiveness of treatment for certain conditions. It may be necessary for health workers to identify where evidence does not exist and be prepared to seek advice from others on the most appropriate responses.

Competency standard 8: engages in lifelong learning and reflective practice to promote the health of refugees and migrants

Reflective practice

It is important for health workers to maintain awareness of their own often unacknowledged views in relation to culture and values, and how they may impact upon health-care delivery. Cultural beliefs and ways of thinking can shape how health workers interpret or prioritize symptoms.

Reflective practice is a useful tool that can take various forms. Essentially, it requires health workers to consider a situation that has occurred, whether positive or negative, and make sense of it by examining their role, what they could have done differently and what changes they may make to their practice in the future (51). While reflective practice, when done effectively, can benefit all health workers and those they provide care to, it is particularly important in the context of refugee and migrant health. Health workers should consider how their approach to health and health service delivery is influenced by their own culture and beliefs, as well as by unconscious bias and institutional discrimination, and what impact, if any, this may have on the refugees and migrants receiving care.

Competency standard 9: contributes to a culture of selfcare and mutual support when providing health care in the context of migration and displacement

Mental health and well-being impacts

Health workers providing care to refugees and migrants may be affected by the challenging environments in which they work, particularly in fragile and conflict settings, as well as by second-hand exposure to stressful and potentially traumatic events experienced by their patients. Listening to stories of hardship, human rights violations and stressful or potentially traumatic experiences while also working in a challenging environment (e.g. high workload, insecure location) can have negative impacts on the mental health of health workers (52). Health workers providing services to refugees and migrants should be aware of potential signs of stress, such as feelings of helplessness and hopelessness, changes in beliefs (e.g. perceiving the world as less safe) and somatic responses such as nausea and numbness (53).

Health workers coping with the emotional impact of their work can adopt a range of self-care behaviours in response, including exercise, meditation, watching films, listening to music and engaging in some activity to delineate work from personal life *(53)*. Health workers should also have access to psychological support and mental health care if needed.

Experiencing professional or personal development and growth can also occur as a result of working with survivors of torture and other traumatic events (54). Health workers may feel empowered and personally motivated from working alongside refugees and migrants, drawing lessons from their perseverance and determination (54).

Supportive team environment

At an organizational level, it is important for health workers to contribute to a safe and supportive team environment where the emotional and social aspects of providing health care to refugees and migrants can be discussed among colleagues. Having a space where stressful experiences are debriefed and positive interactions are celebrated helps to foster a compassionate work culture; this, in turn, benefits the recipients of health care.

References

- 1. Global competency framework for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization (in press).
- Competency standards framework for clinicians: culturally responsive clinical practice – working with people from migrant and refugee backgrounds. Canberra: Migrant and Refugee Health Partnership; 2019 (https:// culturaldiversityhealth.org.au/competency-standards-framework/, accessed 19 March 2021).
- Convention and protocol relating to the status of refugees. Geneva: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees; 1951 (United Nations General Assembly Art. 1(A)(2); http://www.unhcr.org/3b66c2aa10.pdf, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 4. Promoting the health of refugees and migrants: draft global action plan, 2019–2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/promoting-the-health-of-refugees-and-migrants-draft-global-action-plan-2019–2023, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 5. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York: United Nations; 2015 (United Nations General Assembly resolution 70/1; http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E, accessed 19 May 2020).
- 6. Glossary on migration [website]. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2019 (https://www.iom.int/glossary-migration-2019, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 7. Social determinants of migrant health [website]. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2021 (https://www.iom.int/social-determinantsmigrant-health, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 8. Human trafficking and migrant smuggling. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/e4j/en/secondary/humantrafficking-and-migrant-smuggling.html, accessed 19 March 2021).
- New York declaration for refugees and migrants. New York: United Nations; 2016 (A/RES/71/1; https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/ migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A_RES_71_1.pdf, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 10. Save the Children, United Nations Children's Fund. Minimum standards for child protection in humanitarian action. New York: The Alliance for Child Protection in Humanitarian Action; 2019 (https://alliancecpha.org/en/CPMS_ home, accessed 19 March 2021).

- 11. How health systems can address health inequities linked to migration and ethnicity. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2010 (https://www. euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/how-health-systems-can-addresshealth-inequities-linked-to-migration-and-ethnicity, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 12. Hopper EK, Bassuk EL, Olivet J. Shelter from the storm: trauma-informed care in homelessness services settings. Open Health Serv Policy J. 2010;3:80–100. doi: 10.2174/1874924001003020080.
- 13. EQUIP: ensuring quality in psychological support. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/mental_health/emergencies/equip/ en/, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 14. Australasian Society for Infectious Diseases, Refugee Health Network of Australia. Recommendation for comprehensive post-arrival assessment for people from refugee-like backgrounds, second edition. Sydney: Australasian Society for Infectious Diseases; 2016 (https://www.asid.net.au/documents/ item/1225, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 15. McLoughlin P, Warin M. Corrosive places, inhuman spaces: mental health in Australian immigration detention. Health Place. 2008;14(2):254–24. doi: 10.1016/j. healthplace.2007.06.008.
- 16. Lamb CF, Smith M. Problems refugees face when accessing health services. NSW Public Health Bull. 2002:13(7):161–3. doi: 10.1071/nb02065.
- Hibberd R, Elwood LS, Galovski TE. Risk and protective factors for posttraumatic stress disorder, prolonged grief, and depression in survivors of the violent death of a loved one. J Loss Trauma. 2010:15:426–47. doi: 10.1080/15325024.2010.507660.
- Chiesa V, Chiarenza A, Mosca D, Rechel B. Health records for migrants and refugees: a systematic review. Health Policy. 2019:123(9):888–900. doi: 10.1016/j. healthpol.2019.07.018.
- 19. Health promotion glossary. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1998 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/64546, accessed 12 March 2021).
- 20. Brandenberger J, Tylleskär T, Sontag K, Peterhans B, Ritz N. A systematic literature review of reported challenges in health care delivery to migrants and refugees in high-income countries: the 3C model. BMC Public Health. 2019:19(755):1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7049-x.
- Health promotion for improved refugee and migrant health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://www.euro.who.int/en/ publications/abstracts/health-promotion-for-improved-refugee-and-migranthealth-2018, accessed 12 March 2021).

- 22. Ward M, Kristiansen M, Sørensen K. Migrant health literacy in the European Union: a systematic literature review. Health Educ J. 2019;78(1):81–95. doi: 10.1177/0017896918792700.
- 23. Villadsen SF, Hadi H, Ismail I, Osborne RH, Ekstrøm, Kayser L. eHealth literacy and health literacy among immigrants and their descendants compared with women of Danish origin: a cross-sectional study using a multidimensional approach among pregnant women. BMJ Open. 2020:10(5):1–10. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-037076.
- 24. Kay M, Wijayanayaka S, Cook H, Hollingworth S. Understanding quality use of medicines in refugee communities in Australian primary care: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract. 2016:66(647):397–409. doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X685249.
- 25. Wheeler AJ, Scahill S, Hopcroft D, Stapleton H. Reducing medication errors at transitions of care is everyone's business. Aust Prescriber. 2018:41(3):73–7. doi: 10.18773/austprescr.2018.021.
- 26. Faturiyele I, Karletsos D, Ntene-Sealiete K, Musekiwa A, Khabo M, Mariti M et al. Access to HIV care and treatment for migrants between Lesotho and South Africa: a mixed methods study. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(668):1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5594-3.
- 27. Avery AJ, Sheikh A, Hurwitz B, Smeaton L, Chen YF, Howard R et al. Safer medicines management in primary care. Br J Gen Pract. 2002;52(1):17–21. PMID: 12389765.
- 28. Yen PH, Leasure AR. Use and effectiveness of the teach-back method in patient education and health outcomes. Fed Pract. 2019;36(6):284–9. PMID: 31258322.
- 29. Miller A, Hess JM, Bybee D, Goodkind JR. Understanding the mental health consequences of family separation for refugees: implications for policy and practice. Am J Orthopsychiatry. 2018:88(1):26–37. doi: 10.1037/ort0000272.
- 30. Karliner LS, Jacobs EA, Chen AH, Mutha S. Do professional interpreters improve clinical care for patients with limited English proficiency? A systematic review of the literature. Health Serv Res. 2007;42(2):727–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00629.x.
- 31. Henbest RJ, Fehrsen GS. Patient-centeredness: is it applicable outside the West? Its measurement and effect on outcomes. Fam Pract. 1992:9(3):311–17. doi: 10.1093/fampra/9.3.311.
- 32. Brophy-Williams S, Boylen S, Gill FJ, Wilson S, Cherian S. Use of professional interpreters for children and families with limited English proficiency: the intersection with quality and safety. J Paediatr Child Health. 2020;56(8):1201–9. doi: 10.1111/jpc.14880.

- Gray B, Hilder J, Stubbe M. How to use interpreters in general practice: the development of a New Zealand toolkit. J Prim Health Care. 2012:4:52–61.
 PMID: 22377550.
- 34. Working with interpreters: a practice guide for psychologists. Melbourne: Australian Psychology Society; 2013 (https://ausit.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/02/APS-Working-with-Interpreters-Practice-Guide-for-Psychologists_2013.pdf, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 35. Bischoff A, Hudelson P, Bovier PA. Doctor–patient gender concordance and patient satisfaction in interpreter-mediated consultations: an exploratory study. J Travel Med. 2008:15(1):1–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1708-8305.2007.00163.x.
- 36. Promoting the engagement of interpreters in Victorian health services. Brunswick: Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture; 2013 (http:// refugeehealthnetwork.org.au/wp-content/uploads/FHinterp_June2013_for_ web.pdf, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 37. Phillips C. Remote telephone interpretation in medical consultations with refugees: meta-communications about care, survival and selfhood. J Refug Stud. 2013:26(4):505–23. doi: 10.1093/jrs/fet005.
- Hadziabdic E, Hjelm K. Working with interpreters: practical advice for use of an interpreter in healthcare. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 2013:11(1):69–76. doi: 10.1111/1744-1609.12005.
- 39. Our work [website]. Helsinki: World Federation of the Deaf; 2016 (http://wfdeaf. org/our-work/, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 40. Brooks R. A guide to the different types of sign language around the world. Milton Keynes: K International; 2018 (https://k-international.com/blog/differenttypes-of-sign-language-around-the-world/, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 41. International sign. Brussels: European Union of the Deaf; 2012 (https://www.eud.eu/about-us/eud-position-paper/international-sign-guidelines/, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 42. Field guide to humanitarian interpreting and cultural mediation. Danbury: Translators Without Borders; 2017 (https://translatorswithoutborders.org/ wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Guide-to-humanitarian-interpreting-culturalmediation.pdf, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 43. Cultural mediator. In: EMN glossary [website]. Brussels: European Migration Network; 2021 (https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/networks/ european_migration_network/glossary_search/cultural-mediator_en, accessed 19 March 2021).

- 44. Martín MC, Phelan M. Interpreters and cultural mediators: different but complementary roles. Translocations Migr Social Change. 2010;6(1):1–19.
- 45. O'Mara B, Carey G. Do multilingual androids dream of a better life in Australia? Effectiveness of information technology for government translation to support refugees and migrants in Australia. Aus J Public Adm. 2019;78(3):449–71. doi: 10.1111/1467-8500.12388.
- 46. Brega AG, Barnard J, Mabachi NM, Weiss BD, DeWalt DA, Brach C et al. AHRQ health literacy universal precautions toolkit, second edition. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2015 (https://www.ahrq.gov/sites/ default/files/publications/files/healthlittoolkit2_3.pdf, accessed 19 March 2021).
- 47. War Trauma Foundation, WHO, World Vision International. Psychological first aid: guide for field workers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548205, accessed 12 March 2021).
- 48. Ziersch A, Walsh M, Due C, Duivesteyn E. Exploring the relationship between housing and health for refugees and asylum seekers in South Australia: a qualitative study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017:14(9):1–20. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph14091036.
- 49. Zwack J, Schweitzer J. If every fifth physician is affected by burnout, what about the other four? Resilience strategies of experienced physicians. Acad Med. 2013:88(3):382–9. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e318281696b.
- 50. Stevenson AD, Phillips CB, Anderson KJ. Resilience among doctors who work in challenging areas: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract. 2011:61(588):404–10. doi: 10.3399/bjgp11X583182.
- 51. Koshy K, Limb C, Gundogan B, Whitehurst K, Jafree DJ. Reflective practice in health care and how to reflect effectively. Int J Surg Oncol. 2017:2(6):1–3. doi: 10.1097/IJ9.000000000000020.
- 52. Long S. Supervisors' perception of vicarious trauma and growth in Australian refugee trauma counsellors. Aust Soc Work. 2020:73(1):105–17. doi: 10.1080/0312407X.2018.1501587.
- 53. Cohen K, Collens P. The impact of trauma work on trauma workers: a metasynthesis on vicarious trauma and vicarious posttraumatic growth. Psychol Trauma. 2013;5(6):570–80. doi: 10.1037/a0030388.
- 54. Puvimanasinghe T, Denson LA, Augoustinos M, Somasundaram D. Vicarious resilience and vicarious traumatisation: experiences of working with refugees and asylum seekers in South Australia. Transcult Psych. 2015:52(6):743–65. doi: 10.1177/1363461515577289.

Annex. Membership of the Strategic Working Group

Dr Aula Abbara

Dr Abbara is a consultant in Infectious Diseases/General Internal Medicine at Imperial College NHS Healthcare Trust, London, and an Honorary Clinical Senior Lecturer at Imperial College. She teaches and supervises students on the Global Health Bachelor of Sciences course at Imperial College and the Tropical Medicine and International Health course at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. She has volunteered in different humanitarian and refugee settings, including direct clinical work, teaching health-care workers and building capacity.

Associate Professor Jill Benson

Dr Benson is a general practitioner and Director of the Health in Human Diversity Unit at the University of Adelaide. In addition to her work at Adelaide City General Practice, she has worked at Doctors' Health SA since 2000. Dr Benson also works at Pangula Mannamurna Aboriginal health service in Mt Gambier and is the founding Medical Director of Kakarrara Wilurrara Health Alliance in the remote Aboriginal communities at Yalata, Oak Valley and Tjuntjuntjara. Dr Benson is a medical educator at GPEx, the general practitice training organization for South Australia and is a researcher in the Discipline of General Practice at the University of Adelaide.

Dr Fouad M. Fouad

Dr Fouad is an Associate Professor of Public Health Practice at the Faculty of Health and Sciences at the American University of Beirut and Co-Director of the Refugee Health Programme at the Global Health Institute. His current research focuses on the displaced population, with a special interest in the Syrian refugee crisis, as well as the impact of this crisis on the health and the well-being of the Syrian population. Dr Fouad has carried out extensive research on health workforces in humanitarian settings and the weaponization of health care in armed conflicts.

Professor Indika Karunathilake

Professor Karunathilake is the first Professor in Medical Education at the University of Colombo. He is currently the Head of the Department of Medical Education, Faculty of Medicine, University of Colombo and the WHO Collaborating Centre for Medical Education, Faculty of Medicine.

Professor Elsie Kiguli-Malwadde

Professor Kiguli-Malwadde is the Director of Health Workforce and Development at the African Centre for Global Health and Social Transformation. She was the Director of the Medical Education Partnership Initiative, African Coordinating Centre at the African Centre for Global Health and Social Transformation. She is a radiologist and was formerly Associate Professor and Head of the Radiology Department at Makerere University in Kampala.

Professor Allan Krasnik

Professor Krasnik is a Professor of Health Services Research at the Department of Public Health and the Danish Centre for Migration, Ethnicity and Health at the University of Copenhagen. His main interest lies in health services research, with special attention to prevention, evaluation of innovations and changes and the effect on the structure of the health service as to access and health-care utilization for different social and ethnic groups.

Dr Paul Spiegel

Dr Spiegel is a physician by training. Before becoming Director of the Johns Hopkins Center for Humanitarian Health, he was the Deputy Director of the Division of Programme Management and Support Services for the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Prior to joining the United Nations in 2002, Dr Spiegel worked as a medical epidemiologist in the International Emergency and Refugee Health Branch at the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. He has also worked as a medical coordinator with Médecins Sans Frontières and Médecins du Monde in refugee emergencies, as well as acting as a consultant for numerous organizations.

Professor István Szilárd

Professor Szilárd is a specialist in internal medicine and public health medicine. He is the Co-Head of the WHO Collaborating Centre for Migration Health Training and Research at the University of Pécs. Previously, he worked with the International Organization for Migration, participating in emergency and post-conflict humanitarian operations in the Balkans and was the Senior Migration Health Adviser in charge of Europe.

Associate Professor Jo Vearey

Jo Vearey is an Associate Professor and Director of the African Centre for Migration and Society at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. She is an Honorary Fellow of the School of Social and Political Science at the University of Edinburgh, and is Vice-Chair of the global Migration Health and Development Research Initiative (MHADRI).

Professor Cynthia Whitehead

Professor Whitehead is a Professor in the Department of Family and Community Medicine at the University of Toronto; Director and Scientist at the Wilson Centre for Research in Education at the Temerty Faculty of Medicine at University of Toronto and University Health Network. She is the BMO Financial Group Chair in Health Professions Education Research at University Health Network and has held many education leadership positions at the University of Toronto.



Health and Migration Programme (PHM) World Health Organization | 20, avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland

